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INSTRUCTIONS

1. Read all instructions before beginning. Write your blind grading number in the space at the top of the page.

2. This is an open-book exam. You may consult any written material that you think will be helpful.

3. You will have three and one half hours to complete your work on this exam.  The first hour is a reading period during which you should read the exam materials and make notes on scrap paper or on the exam itself.  Blue​books will not be distributed and laptop users may not begin using their laptops until the end of the first hour. 
4. I will not grade material written on scrap paper or on the exam itself. I will grade only material written in the bluebooks or typed on your laptop during the final two and one half hours of the exam.

5. The exam consists of four questions. You must answer either Question IA or Question IB.  You also must answer both Question II and Ques​tion III. Each of your three answers will be weighted equally, so use your time accordingly. I have designed the test to give you roughly fifty minutes to write your response to each question. You may not have enough time to answer each question exhaustively; do the best you can.

6. If you are handwriting the exam, start each question in a separate bluebook. On the cover of each bluebook you use, write your anonymous grading number and the question number (e.g., "Question IB" or "Question III continued"). Write only on one side of the page and write legibly. If your handwriting is large or difficult to read, write only on every other line. Illegible portions of the answer simply will not count.

7. If you are typing the exam, begin your answer or to each questions on a new page  or on a separate question tab. Type the question number at the beginning of each answer.

8. Please read each question carefully. You may receive less credit if you disregard any part of the instructions or any of the material presented in the question.

9. Your grade will be determined by both the breadth and depth of your analysis and, in part, by how well you present it (conciseness, clarity, and organization). If you are pressed for time, you may wish to put the end of your answer in outline form. While you will receive some credit for issues you clearly identify in this manner, you will receive less credit than you would if you fully analyze the issues.

10. If you think you need to make assumptions in order to answer a question, please iden​tify the assumptions you make. (E.g., "Assuming we are in the same room as last time, ... .")

11. Good Luck!

Question IA (Answer IA or IB)

In 2013, for the first time, intelligent beings from another solar system travelled to Earth.  The Lilistines, as they called themselves, originated on a planet circling the star Rigel, and had been engaging in inter-stellar travel for several centuries.  After making contact with humans, they entered trade agreements with a number of nations on Earth and began doing extensive business here, especially with the U.S. and with China.  By 2025, more than 400,000 Lilistines lived on Earth, engaging in commerce or sharing scientific and industrial techniques with humans.


Lilistines are shaped remarkably like humans, except that they ordinarily have two arms on each side of their body and seven fingers on each of their four hands.  Their natural skin tones are various shades of blue and green, which some humans find beautiful and others find repulsive.  Humans also were divided, particularly in the U.S., about whether it was desirable to have “aliens” living among us.  

In 2025, some Lilistines who particularly enjoyed living here applied to be citizens of nations on Earth.  In the U.S., the citizenship issue was very controversial.  On the one hand, American business interests worried about losing trade opportunities to China and to the European Union nations, which all allowed Lilistines to become citizens. On the other hand, many Americans did not want greater contact with the Lilistines and worried about losing jobs to the technically-sophisticated “aliens.”  Some more extreme “Human First” groups developed anti-alien slogans like, 

Red, brown, yellow, black or white, any of these can be all right.

Skin that’s blue or skin that’s green will not do; it is obscene.

 
Congressional leaders drafted and passed a compromise bill that allowed Lilistines to become U.S. citizens, but explicitly excluded them from  protection under Title VII and the Fair Housing Act.  Senator Catherine Garcia, one of the sponsors of the bill, said during the debate that “Our bill protects U.S. economic interests, while allowing individual Americans to decide for themselves whether they want to hire or live with non-humans.”  The bill made no mention of the Civil Rights Act of 1866.  The President signed the bill into law early in 2026.
QUESTION IA CONTINUES ON THE NEXT PAGE
Question IA (Continued)

Late in 2026, a Lilistine salesperson named E’rin-T’ron became a U.S. citizen.  Subsequently, E’rin-T’ron applied to rent a penthouse apartment in a building owned by Amanda Allenbaum.  Amanda refused to accept the application, saying she never would rent to a Lilistine.

E’rin-T’ron sued Amanda in federal court claiming the refusal violated 42 U.S.C. §1982.  The trial court granted Amanda’s motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, holding that discrimination against Lilistines is not covered by the Civil Rights Act of 1866.  The court noted that the 1866 Congress “obviously did not contemplate protecting entities from other galaxies” and that the 2025 Congress intended to prevent Lilistines from bringing federal anti-discrimination lawsuits.


The court of appeals reversed, arguing that discrimination against Lilistines seemed “frighteningly” like race discrimination against humans.  The court also pointed out that although the citizenship bill had prohibited claims under Title VII and the FHA, the failure to mention the Civil Rights Act of 1866 suggested that Congress did not intend to prohibit lawsuits arising under §1982.
Amanda petitioned for certiorari. The U.S. Supreme Court granted the petition to determine if a cause of action for discrimination against Lilistines was available under §1982.  
Compose drafts of the analysis sections of a majority opinion and of a shorter dissent for the U.S. Supreme Court deciding this question in the context of the facts of this case.

Answer either Question IA or Question IB
Question IB (Answer IA or IB)

Michael Burns owns a 144-unit apartment building in the downtown area of a major American city.  When he was a child, two of Michael’s cousins were killed when their house burned down.  Ever since, he has been extremely afraid of fire.  In his building, he took fire prevention measures that were more strict than required by local building codes, installing more sensitive smoke detectors, a greater number of fire extinguishers, and a more comprehensive sprinkler system.  He also installed electric (rather than gas) ovens, stoves, and heating systems.  

Michael also put a requirement in all his leases that tenants could not have open flames of any kind in the apartments.  So that tenants wouldn’t have to light candles in the event of a power outage, Michael provided each apartment with three strong flashlights and the batteries to run them.  He invariably turned down requests for exceptions to the “no open flame” rule, whether for birthday parties, romantic dinners, or religious rituals.  


The local H.U.D. office received several complaints that Michael’s “no open flame” rule made it impossible for people with particular religious beliefs to live in his building.  The complainants included Orthodox Jews who wanted to light Sabbath and holiday candles, a Roman Catholic who wanted to light votive candles, and a Buddhist who wanted to burn incense.  


H.U.D. brought an action against Michael in federal court alleging that the “no open flame” rule violated §3604(a) of the FHA because it had a disparate impact on people with particular religious beliefs.  The trial court granted Michael’s motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, holding that disparate impact claims based on religion must be based on actual exclusion from housing and not merely from the applicant’s “personal decision” to forego the housing opportunity in order to comply with “self-imposed religious requirements.”  The court also noted that the claim really was a request for reasonable accommodations, which the FHA did not provide except for claims based in “handicap.”

The court of appeals reversed, arguing that serious protection of the housing rights of religious individuals requires protection of their right to practice their religion in the housing of their choice.  The court remanded for the trial court to determine the extent of the discriminatory effect and to decide if the reasons behind Michael’s rule were important enough to justify that effect.

QUESTION IB CONTINUES ON THE NEXT PAGE
Question IB (Continued)
Michael petitioned for certiorari. The U.S. Supreme Court granted the petition to determine whether the FHA gives rise to a disparate impact cause of action under §3604(a) where a neutral policy forces religious individuals to choose between housing of their choice and performing religious obligations.
Compose drafts of the analysis sections of a majority opinion and of a shorter dissent for the U.S. Supreme Court deciding this question in the context of the facts of this case.

Assume that the complaints upon which HUD based its lawsuit arose from sincere beliefs that the “open flame rule” prevented the claimants from meeting religious obligations.  Assume also that no applicable local or state law requires Michael to institute the “open flame rule.” 

Answer either Question IA or Question IB
QUESTION II (Mandatory)

You work at the U.S. House of Representatives on the staff of Rep. Constant Waffle, a moderate from central Missouri. One of his colleagues, Rep. Pura Nallajee (D-Illinois), wants to amend the FHA to clarify instances when courts should not use Title VII analysis.  In particular, she would like to ban the applications of Title VII used in Pinchback, in Starrett City, and in DiCenso. Rep. Nallajee has proposed the following amendment:

§3604(g). Employment of Title VII analysis in interpreting this section is not appropriate in the following situations:

(1)  The so-called “futile gesture” claim; 

(2) The use of the test for judging the lawfulness of affirmative action cases in employment for assessing programs designed to maintain racially integrated housing; or

(3) Determining the amount of discriminatory behavior necessary to claim hostile environment harassment by a landlord or by a representative of the landlord in the context of rental units.
Compose a draft of a memo for your boss assessing the proposed amendment. The memo should include:

- Technical Critique including identification of technical drafting problems with the amendment as written and identification and ex​planation of possible changes to address these problems (if Rep. Waf​fle decides to support the substance of the amendment); and

- Substantive Critique including discussion of the pros and cons of the substance of the amendment and identification and explanation of possible substantive changes to improve the amendment.
YOU MUST ANSWER QUESTION II

QUESTION III (Mandatory)

Based on the facts below, Paul Pettite brought an action in U.S. District Court alleging that Healthy Highrises and Farrah Stovamol had violated the FHA.  Discuss the following legal questions in the context of  the facts, noting the strengths and weaknesses of each party’s position.  The time indicated after each question provides a rough indication of the relative weight I will assign to it when grading.
(A) Is Paul Pettite a person with a “handicap” within the meaning of §3602(h)? (10 minutes)
(B) Assuming the answer to Question A is yes, did Farrah Stovamol violate §3617 by “interfering” because of “handicap”? (20 minutes)
(C) Assuming Paul is an appropriate party to raise this question, did the Healthy Highrises advertising violate §3604(c) on the basis of “handicap”? (20 minutes)
Paul Pettite is 36 years old and is four feet five inches tall.  He has a form of Dwarfism in which his head and torso are “normal-sized” but his limbs are disproportionately short.  You can find additional information about Dwarfism in the appendix at the end of this question.  Like many Americans with Dwarfism, Paul prefers to be called a “Little Person.”
Paul is the star of a cable TV series called, “Little Person, Big Adventures,” in which he travels to various interesting locations and interacts with the different spaces and the people he meets there.  On the show, he is best known for his sharp sense of humor and for the red, white and blue folding stool he carries everywhere to enable him to see things from the perspective of an average adult.  After three very popular seasons based in Los Angeles, Paul decided to move his TV show to New York City.  
A friend suggested that Paul look into purchasing a brand new condominium at Healthy Highrises (HH) in Manhattan.  HH consisted of four towers containing housing units surrounding a large athletic complex, whose use was limited to residents and their guests.  HH’s advertising showed pictures of very fit men and women of several races using the athletic facilities.  The models ranged in age from about 12 to about 50.  The text of the ads read as follows:
QUESTION III CONTINUES ON THE NEXT PAGE
Question III (Continued)
PERFECT BODY, PERFECT LIVING

You know how hard it is to stay fit in the city.
What if you and your family had access to a world-class training facility right in the building where you lived?  
What if the facility included weights and aerobic machines, group exercise classes, an Olympic-sized pool, sauna and steam rooms, and five tennis courts?
What if the only people who could use the facility were you, your fellow residents, and your guests, all committed to perfect health and fitness?

What if access to the athletic facility came with fully-equipped two-bedroom and three-bedroom condos, all with great city views?
HEALTHY HIGHRISES.  JUST PERFECT.

Equal Housing Opportunity.  
Paul applied to purchase a unit at HH.  He met all the financial qualifications, but needed to go through an interview with the HH Condo Association Board before the purchase could go through.  At the interview, Farrah Stovamol, the President of the five-member Board, questioned Paul extensively about whether his celebrity would cause problems.  

When Paul objected to her insinuation that, because he was a star, he would throw loud parties, Farrah said, “Now, now.  We want happy, not grumpy.”  Paul glared at her
 and she quickly responded, “Just a little joke.”  She then asked if he would be able to safely use the appliances in his apartment and the athletic facilities.
Fellow-board member Mira Miro blurted out, “Well, he has his stool.” She smiled at Paul, gushing, “I’m a big fan!” Paul explained that he was used to working with “normal-sized” facilities and that there would be no danger to himself or to anyone else.  

At the end of the interview, Farrah explained that the Board would hold an official meeting in two weeks and vote on his application.  After Paul left, Farrah indicated that she still was worried about the press interfering with other residents and added, “he’s going to be the most famous person living here, and he doesn’t exactly fit our marketing profile.”

QUESTION III CONTINUES ON THE NEXT PAGE
Question III (Continued)
Two weeks later, concerned that a majority of the Board would approve Paul’s application, Farrah postponed the Board meeting.  Meanwhile Paul came across one of HH’s ads and thought, “Boy, I’m really not what they’re looking for.”  Already uncomfortable about his interview,  when he hadn’t heard from the HH Board a week after the date he was told they would decide, he sent them a letter withdrawing his application.  Before receiving the letter, the Board voted 3-2 to accept Paul’s application.  Mira later told Paul everything that had occurred.
APPENDIX:  INFORMATION RE DWARFISM

Taken from Wikipedia and the Little People of America Website.

· Dwarfism is short stature resulting from one of about 200 medical conditions. Although these conditions affect stature and/or bone growth, they almost never affect cognitive ability. The typical adult height range for people with dwarfism is 2'8" to 4'5". 
· There are an estimated 30,000 people in the United States and 651,000 internationally with some type of dwarfism. Eighty percent of people with dwarfism have average-height parents and siblings.
· There is no single treatment for dwarfism. Some bone-growth disorders can be treated through surgery, and some hormone disorders can be treated through medication, but usually it is impossible to treat all the symptoms of dwarfism. Individual accommodations, such as specialized furniture, are often used by people with dwarfism. 
· Dwarfism is a highly visible condition and often carries negative connotations. People with dwarfism are often used as spectacles in entertainment and portrayed with stereotypes. Dwarfism can lead to ridicule in childhood and discrimination in adulthood. 
· Little People of America (LPA) is a national support organization for people with dwarfism and their families.  Lois Lamb, LPA President and a person with dwarfism is quoted in the LPA materials as saying, “People with dwarfism are no different than any other person.  We may just need a well-placed stool.  Our members are children, college students, business professionals, doctors, engineers, mechanics, artists and teachers.  We can do anything an average-height person can do.”

YOU MUST ANSWER QUESTION III
� Disney’s names for the seven dwarfs in Snow White were Dopey, Happy, Sneezy, Sleepy, Grumpy, Doc, and Bashful.
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